1981

# The State of Utah v. George William Burton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction for two counts of Theft, Second Degree Felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-404 (1953 as amended), in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, GEORGE WILLIAM BURTON, was charged in an Information with two counts of Theft, felonies of the second degree in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-404 (1953 as amended). On the 14th day of July, 1980, the appellant was convicted by a jury of both counts as charged in the Information. On the 1st day of August, 1980, the appellant was sentenced to incarceration in the Utah State Prison to two indeterminate terms of one to fifteen years said terms to run concurrently.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant, GEORGE WILLIAM BURTON, seeks reversal of the judgment entered against him and a new trial in the above-entitled matter.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant was convicted of two counts of Theft. Count I was for Theft of a Vehicle, and Count II was for Theft of Property, such property being valued at over \$1,000.00. Salt Lake City Police Officer Charles Oliver testified that at approximately 9:15 p.m. on April 11, 1980, he spotted a westbound car on 1300 South which matched the description of a car reported as stolen an hour earlier. After a two block "chase," the vehicle pulled over into a parking lot at 1148 South and 300 West, and the appellant was discovered to be the driver. (T. 42-47) Cliff Bowden, the owner of the car, testified that he saw the appellant drive the vehicle away from the home of Elver Langdon, located at 48 South and 600 West, around 8:00 p.m. (T. 6, 35)

Not disputing most of the above facts, the appellant testified that he had been drinking large amounts of alcohol with an acquaintance, one "Crazy Fish," during the day in question. (T. 71) Towards evening the two drove in the appellant's car to the house where he resided with his mother, located at 258 North 800 West, "to get some more cash, money, and something to

eat." (T. 72, 79) While the appellant was in the house, Crazy Fish drove off in the appellant's car and the appellant pursued him on foot, heading south. (T. 72, 73) Upon discovering a car with keys in the ignition, the appellant drove off in that car in pursuit of Crazy Fish. (T. 73)

The appellant testified that he then drove to Perkins, at 900 South State, where he had met Crazy Fish earlier in the day, talked to several people at Perkin's asking if anyone had seen Crazy Fish or the car, and then drove around the area between 900 South and 1300 South, and West Temple and 300 West, where he believed Crazy Fish lived. (T. 74) The appellant stated that he did not at any time intend to steal the car, and was, in fact, driving back to where he had found it, in order to leave it "in the neighborhood" when he was pulled over and arrested. (T. 75)

Kathy Murray, a foster sister to the appellant, corroborated his testimony in the following particulars. That the appellant and Crazy Fish were together on the day in question, and were intoxicated; that she saw Crazy Fish drive off in the appellant's car; that she saw the appellant pursue Crazy Fish on foot; and that the appellant's car was found on the evening of April 11th crashed into a telephone pole. (T. 60-63)

The appellant did not raise the defense of voluntary intoxication, and therefore objected to Instruction 16-B on



voluntary intoxication. The appellant also excepted to the Court's failure to give a reasonable hypothesis instruction, which was properly requested in writing. (T. 98)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE DEFENSE OF VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION.

Count I of the Information charged the appellant with Theft of a Vehicle. Jury Instruction No. 15 instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of Unlawful Taking of a Vehicle, which is a misdemeanor. The element of specific intent to deprive the owner of his property is required for Theft of a Vehicle, while an intent merely to temporarily deprive the owner of possession of his property would constitute Unlawful Taking of a Vehicle. This issue was of critical importance in the present case, where the appellant admitted that he unlawfully took Cliff Bowden's vehicle, but denied any intent to steal the car.

The appellant's theory of the case, as outlined in the facts above, is that he just used Cliff Bowden's car for a short while, in order to search for his own car, and that he was in fact returning the car when arrested. The fact of appellant's intoxication was only relevant to explain the circumstances under which he took Cliff Bowden's car, and was never claimed

by the appellant as a defense or an "excuse" for his actions. However, Jury Instruction No. 16-B, given by the court upon request of the State, and over defense counsel's objection, could very easily have confused and misled the jury into thinking that the appellant had raised the defense of voluntary intoxication and was offering his intoxication as the sole excuse for his conduct. That instruction provided:

INSTRUCTION 16-B.

Voluntary intoxication from alcohol or drugs is not a defense to the charge being considered unless the intoxication negates the existence of the mental state which is an element of the offense and which in the case now before the court is that the defendant acted with a purpose to deprive an individual of his property. Being under the influence of alcohol or drugs is no excuse for the commission of a crime where it merely makes a person more excited or reckless, so that one does things one might not otherwise have done. To be a defense to such a crime, one must be so under the influence of alcohol that at the time of the alleged offense he did not know what he was then doing, so that he was then and there incapable of forming the necessary intent.

It is a well settled principle of law that a defendant has a right to have his theory of the case presented to the jury in the form of instructions, at least where such theory is reasonably justified by the evidence, in a "clear and understandable way."<sup>1</sup>

---

1. State v. Stenback, 78 Utah 350, 2 P.2d 1050 (1931); State v. McCumber, 622 P.2d 353 (Ut. 1980); State v. Potter, 627 P.2d 75 (Ut. 1981); State v. Castillo, 23 Ut.2d 70, 457 P.2d 618 (1969)

It is equally clear that "[t]he purpose of an instruction is to enlighten a jury."<sup>2</sup> An instruction which is confusing, rather than enlightening is properly refused. Specifically, an instruction on the defense of voluntary intoxication is proper in those instances, and only in those instances, where "there has been evidence of alcohol intoxication which bears upon the issue of a required specific intent."<sup>3</sup> (Emphasis supplied)

The intoxication of the appellant in the present case had absolutely no bearing upon the issue of specific intent, since the defense of voluntary intoxication was never asserted by the appellant--that is, the appellant never sought to negate the specific intent element by reason of this intoxication. And while the second sentence of Instruction No. 16-B in light of the facts presented at trial, may have been a proper warning that intoxication is no excuse for the commission of a crime,<sup>4</sup> the first and last sentences of that instruction were definitely improper. Each of these sentences informs the jury under which circumstances voluntary intoxication is a defense to a crime. Sandwiched in between is the sentence disallowing intoxication

---

2. State v. Selgado, 76 N.M. 187, 413 P.2d 469, 471 (1966)

3. State v. James, 223 Kan. 107, 574 P.2d 181, 185 (1977); See also State v. Potter, supra.

4. The appellant is not hereby conceding that the second sentence of Instruction No. 16-B was proper, but is merely assuming so, in arguendo. For in fact, intoxication was not even offered as an excuse for the misdeed, but merely one of the circumstances describing the defendant's actions that day.

as an excuse for criminal activity, thus creating a strong overall impression that the appellant was trying to excuse and defend his conduct because of his intoxicated state, and that the jury must not accept the excuses or defenses offered by the appellant.

In a slightly different context, in State v. Potter,<sup>5</sup> this court held that confusing and misleading jury instructions on voluntary intoxication constituted prejudicial error. There, the defendant raised the defense of voluntary intoxication and proposed several jury instructions on that defense, all of which were denied. Instead, the trial court gave general instructions on the intent requirements of the crimes charged and the effect of intoxication upon the defendant's criminal culpability. In reversing the conviction, this court reasoned that "the instructions given in the present case were so general that they could have misled and confused the jury," and

---

5. See footnote 1, supra.

[b]ecause the instructions given in the present case failed to explain adequately the distinction between the general and specific intent requirements or relate those requirements to the facts of the case and the different crimes charged, they were misleading and confusing.<sup>6</sup>

Elaborating further, the court explained that because the instructions on intent and voluntary intoxication were so general and not related to the facts of the case, they:

could have left the jury in a state of confusion or even with the impression that as a matter of law the defendant's voluntary intoxication could have no effect on the criminality of his conduct.<sup>7</sup>

In that case the court concluded that, for the reasons given above

The instructions failed to present to the jury in a clear and understandable manner the substance of the defense advocated by the defendant. The instructions thus constitute error which was prejudicial to the defendant and deprived him of a fair trial.<sup>8</sup>

In the present case, the instruction on voluntary intoxication presented a theory of the case advanced by neither the appellant nor the state (the defense of voluntary intoxication) and then negated that theory. This may well have confused and misled the jury into thinking that the defense of voluntary

---

6. Id. at 78

7. Id. at 80

8. Id., citing State v. Day, 90 N.M. 154, 560 P.2d 945 (1977); People v. Cesare, 68 A.D.2d 938, 414 N.Y.S. 2d 585 (1979); People v. Maliskey, 77 Mich.App. 444, 258 N.W. 2d 514 (1977).

intoxication was the primary issue for it to decide. This is particularly true since Instruction No. 16-B was couched in terms of voluntary intoxication being no "defense."

The instruction on voluntary intoxication was improper. It was prejudicial because it may have confused and misled the jury, and failed to allow the appellant to present his theory of the case to the jury. Consequently, the trial court's giving of that instruction constituted reversible error.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESIS REQUIREMENT.

Although the State's case on Count I of the Information, Theft of a Vehicle, was based on some direct evidence (the appellant testified himself that he took the car without permission), the State's case on Count II, involving theft of property claimed by Cliff Bowden to have been inside the car before it was taken, was based entirely on circumstantial evidence. None of the alleged stolen property was ever discovered, and there was no evidence that the appellant had handled, moved or sold any such property. The entire case against the appellant on Count II was Cliff Bowden's testimony that such property existed, was in the car before the appellant drove off, and was missing when the car was recovered. Even the valuation of the property was determined solely by Cliff Bowden's testimony. And by Mr. Bowden's testimony, the car sat, unlocked and unattended, for some 10 or

15 minutes in front of the Langdon home before the appellant took it. The appellant's testimony was that the car sat for a similar period in front of Perkin's while he was inside questioning people as to the whereabouts of his own car. The evidence presented relevant to Count II, therefore, was entirely circumstantial.

The appellant excepted to the trial court's failure to give the last paragraph of appellant's proposed Instruction No. 2, on the reasonable alternative hypothesis. This paragraph stated:

To warrant you in convicting the defendant, the evidence must to your minds exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of the guilt of the defendant. That is to say, if after an entire consideration and comparison of all the testimony in the case you can reasonably explain the facts given in evidence on any reasonable ground other than the guilt of the defendant, you should acquit him.

This instruction is entirely consistent with the law as stated originally in State v. Crawford,<sup>9</sup> that:

[T]he rule applied in cases dependent solely upon circumstantial evidence, as in the case at bar, [is] that the circumstances must be such as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis except that of the defendant's guilt of the offense charged.

---

9. 59 Utah 39, 201 P.1030, 1033 (1921). See also State v. Erwin, 120 P.2d 285, 302 (1941); State v. Marasco, 81 Utah 325, 17 P.2d 919 (1933).

It further appears that this rule of law, in circumstantial evidence cases, must be explained to the jury:

It has long been the law in this jurisdiction that the giving of such an instruction [the reasonable alternative hypothesis] is neither appropriate nor required unless the proof of a material issue is based solely upon circumstantial evidence.<sup>10</sup>

In discussing the same issue, this court in State v. Schad, 470 P.2d 246, 247 (Ut. 1970), used the following reasoning:

It is true, as the defendant contends, that where a conviction is based on circumstantial evidence, the evidence should be looked upon with caution, and that it must exclude every reasonable hypothesis except the guilt of the defendant. This is entirely logical, because if the jury believes that there is a reasonable hypothesis in the evidence consistent with the defendant's innocence, there would naturally be a reasonable doubt as to his guilt. Nevertheless, that proposition does not apply to each circumstance separately, but is a matter within the prerogative of the jury to determine from all of the facts and circumstances shown; and if therefrom they are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt, it necessarily follows that they regarded the evidence as excluding every other reasonable hypothesis.

However, this is only true if the jury specifically understands that a reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence constitutes a reasonable doubt.

---

10. State v. Bender, 581 P.2d 1019, 1021 (Ut. 1978);  
State v. Fort, 572 P.2d 1387 (Ut. 1977); State v. Garcia,  
11 Ut.2d 67, 355 P.2d 57 (1960).



In State v. Eagle,<sup>11</sup> this court, while seemingly ignoring the case law cited in footnotes 9 and 10, supra, highly criticized the request of the defendant in that case for an instruction on the reasonable alternative hypothesis, describing any controversy over such an instruction as "nothing more than a tempest in a teapot."<sup>12</sup> In so doing, the court stated:

The use of the reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction is merely one way of expressing that necessary burden of proof and there is no apparent reason to mandate that one, and only one, particular instruction being used by trial judges in conveying to the jury the meaning of that elusive phrase, "proof beyond a reasonable doubt."<sup>13</sup>

And in State v. King,<sup>14</sup> after quoting the same paragraph from Schad as appears above, the court stated:

Of course, the requested instructions may make more understandable and explicit the usual instruction on burden of proof.

Thus, with all due respect, it appears that the principle reason that trial courts deny the reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction is because it too clearly informs the jury of what the real burden of proof in a criminal case is. It is undisputed that the reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction is a correct statement of the law; and it is

---

11. 611 P.2d 1211 (Ut. 1980)

12. Id. at 1213.

13. Id.

14. 604 P.2d 923, 926 (Ut. 1979).

admitted by this court that such an instruction helps clarify the burden of proof to the jury. In fact, the only reason this court has ever given for supporting a trial court's denial of the instruction is the "tempest in a teapot" argument used in Eagle--that the clarity the proposed instruction gives to other burden of proof instructions would not make a significant difference in the jury's deliberations.

If this instruction really does have an insignificant impact on juries, why do prosecutors so vehemently oppose it, and why, pray tell, are the trial judges constantly denying it, when it correctly states the law and makes more clear to the jury what its duty is? And ultimately, why should this court deny to a defendant his chance to inform the jury more clearly as to the meaning of the "elusive phrase," "proof beyond a reasonable doubt"?

In determining whether a failure to give a requested instruction is prejudicial, the question is whether "if the requested instruction had been given and the jury had so considered the evidence, there is a reasonable likelihood that it may have had some effect on the verdict rendered."<sup>15</sup>

---

15. State v. Mitcheson, 560 P.2d 1120, 1122 (Ut. 1977)

In the present case, where the appellant was only in possession of the car which contained the missing property for one hour, and where that car sat unlocked and unattended for 10-15 minutes on two separate occasions, and where no evidence whatsoever was found connecting the appellant with the missing property other than his possession of the vehicle, the jury might well have thought it reasonably possible that someone else stole the property from the car. And, not having been instructed that this would constitute a reasonable doubt under the law, the jury may have convicted the appellant in spite of entertaining this possibility. Therefore, under the Mitcheson test, a reasonable likelihood exists that the failure to give the requested instruction had an effect on the verdict rendered, and such would constitute reversible error.