1981

# The State of Utah v. George William Burton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Defendant complains about numerous instructions given by the court at the request of the State and complains of the court's refusal to give certain instructions tendered by him. . . .

The other People's instruction instructed the jury that voluntary drunkenness was no defense to the crime of larceny. Defendant argues that he never intended to use his drunkenness as a defense and therefore the State had no right to an instruction on the subject. We find that a considerable portion of defendant's testimony at the trial was taken up with evidence of his drinking and intoxication and two other witnesses who testified for him limited their testimony to that fact. With this evidence of intoxication in the record, the State was entitled to give an instruction on its theory of the case.

Id. at 32.

This same reasoning is found in State v. Lincoln, 482 S.W. 2d 424 (Mo. 1972), in which the Missouri Supreme Court upheld defendant's conviction for burglary and stealing while rejecting his assertions that the trial court committed



error in giving an instruction on voluntary intoxication when defendant had not asserted that as a defense.

The record shows that the matter of defendant's asserted intoxication was referred to only in interrogation on behalf of defendant. He testified himself at some length on the subject.... There were numerous instances in which the subject of defendant's intoxication was referred to. Under these circumstances, the giving of the instruction was proper.

Id. at 426 (Citation omitted) [Accord: State v. Zerban, 412 S.W. 2d 397 (Mo. 1967)].

The origin of this rule in Missouri is found in State v. Sawyer, 365 S.W. 2d 487 (Mo. 1963) where the Supreme Court upheld a conviction of first degree robbery.

In Instruction No. 3 the court instructed that voluntary intoxication is no excuse for the commission of crime. Defendant assigns error, saying intoxication was not raised by him as an excuse or reason for the acts that allegedly took place. The record is replete with testimony concerning heavy drinking by and the intoxication of both defendant and Boyer. Defendant testified he was sick from drinking and a little intoxicated at the time of the robbery.

It is the accepted rule that voluntary intoxication is not an excuse for the commission of crime.... Our Rule 26.02 states "the court, whether or not it shall have been requested so to do by either party, must instruct the jury in writing upon all questions of law

necessary for their guidance in returning their verdict \* \*." Assuming that the instruction is outside the scope of the mandatory instructions contemplated in Rule 26.02 . . . this does not mean that the trial court may not or should not give it. Even though defendant takes the position in his motion for new trial that he was not relying on drunkenness as an excuse for his alleged acts, his testimony and that of others placed that subject before the jury. It was in the interest of justice to give the jury for their guidance in returning their verdict the applicable law on this subject before them under the evidence, and the trial court did not err in so doing.

Id. at 492 (Citations omitted).

In People v. Conley, 243 P.2d 874 (Cal. 1952), the defendants' conviction for assault was upheld by the California Court of Appeal. Defendant contended the trial court had erred in giving various instructions to the jury.

The third was the usual instruction to the effect that no act is less criminal because it was committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication. It is argued that these instructions were improper since no such defenses were raised. The appellant relies on People v. Silver, 16 Cal. 2d 714, 108 P.2d 4, where it was held that in a close case a misleading instruction on an issue not raised is prejudicial where it may have confused the jury on a matter vital to the defense. No such situation here appears. These matters were not vital to the defense and there is nothing to indicate that the jury was confused or misled.

Id. at 878. In Conley, the defendant had testified he was

not drunk, but "there was evidence to support a contrary inference, and the instruction on intoxication was neither erroneous nor harmful." Id.

The rule, as stated by the California Supreme Court in People v. Silver, 108 P.2d 4 (Cal. 1940), cited in Conley, supra, is:

Where errors in instructions occur, the question always arises as to whether or not they are prejudicial. Here it may be said that where the proof of a defendant's guilt is clear, and no extenuating circumstances appear, such errors may not be prejudicial. But where a case, . . . is what may be termed a "close" case, and where the erroneous instructions concern matters vital to the defense of the defendant, and may have resulted in a miscarriage of justice, we are of the opinion that such errors must be regarded as prejudicial and should result in a new trial for the defendant.

Silver, supra, at 9.

In the instant case, respondent submits there was no error in giving the instruction on voluntary intoxication. The instruction itself was a correct statement of the law. The matter of appellant's intoxication was not "vital" (Id.) to his defense. The record discloses the jury had an adequate foundation on which to base their inferences and conclusions as they evaluated the testimony and evidence presented by all the witnesses, including appellant.

As appellant indicates (Appellant's Brief at 4), the jury was fully aware it could find him guilty or not guilty of Theft of a Vehicle or the lesser included offense of Unlawful Taking of a Vehicle (CT 63, 64, 81). Finally, this was not a "close" case in the meaning of Silver, supra.

The cases do not disclose any essential distinction between the terms "excuse" and "defense" as used in the jury instructions in this case, and respondent submits there is no distinction worth noting.

Respondent submits that where evidence of a defendant's intoxication at the time he committed the crime comes before the jury for their consideration and this evidence was derived largely from defendant's testimony, the state is entitled to an instruction on that subject.

#### POINT II

AN INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY ON THE  
"REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESIS"  
THEORY WAS NOT REQUIRED AND WOULD HAVE  
BEEN SUPERFLUOUS AS A CORRECT INSTRUCTION  
ON REASONABLE DOUBT HAD ALREADY BEEN  
GIVEN.

Appellant contends that (1) it was error to deny his request for an instruction on the reasonable alternative hypothesis, claiming that the evidence supporting Count II of the information (relating to the theft of property inside the

stolen vehicle) was "entirely . . . circumstantial" (Appellant's Brief at 9) and subject to alternative conclusions.<sup>2</sup> 2) Appellant further contends that there is danger that in the absence of such an instruction the jury would not understand that if there were another explanation for defendant's conduct giving rise to a reasonable doubt as to his guilt, he should be acquitted. (3) Appellant further contends that failure to give the requested instruction could result in confusion as to the State's burden of proof. Appellant's first point is without merit. Bowden's testimony was direct evidence from which the jury could draw inferences as it recreated the facts, reconciled conflicts in a reasonable manner, and determined the weight to be given the evidence before it.

---

<sup>2</sup>"A distinction is drawn between direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Evidence is direct when the witness testifies as to the facts in dispute on the basis of his own knowledge of them. Circumstantial evidence assumes a witness who has no knowledge of the facts in dispute, but knows of other facts and circumstances which, when offered in evidence, may permit the fact finder to infer that the facts in dispute existed or did not exist. The inference will be drawn if, in accordance with the common experience of mankind, a reasonable relationship may be perceived between the known facts and circumstances and the facts sought to be proved. In terms of implementation, however, there is no distinction between direct evidence and circumstantial evidence . . ." Wharton's Criminal Evidence 4 (13th Ed. 1972).

Assuming, arguendo, that all the evidence on which appellant's conviction was based was circumstantial, respondent suggests there is no reason why it should be accorded less weight than so-called direct evidence. Appellant suggests that because evidence is circumstantial, it is somehow less probative than direct evidence and therefore suspect, requiring a reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction.

In this regard, Justice Wilkins had this to say in his concurring opinion in State v. John, 586 P.2d 410 (Utah 1978).

I do not agree with the majority opinion's comment that ". . . despite whatever weaknesses circumstantial evidence may have, it is recognized as a valid method of ascertaining the truth" because it implies that generally this class of evidence is inherently less reliable than direct evidence. I do however otherwise concur in the opinion.

The weight to be given to direct evidence is not--as a matter of law--necessarily greater than that given to circumstantial evidence. I believe an accurate statement of the law appears in 30 Am.Jur. 2d, Evidence, Sec. 1126, where it states:

. . . Many decisions are to the effect that circumstantial evidence in a

criminal case may be fully as satisfying as positive testimony and will sometimes outweigh it. In cases where the facts or circumstances which are proved are not only consistent with the guilt of the defendant, but also inconsistent with his innocence, such evidence, in its weight and probative force, may surpass direct evidence in its effect upon the jury ... Circumstantial evidence deserves a like consideration as to the sworn statements of a witness and may disprove the testimony of living witnesses, and there is nothing in the nature of circumstantial evidence that renders it less reliable than other classes of evidence (Citations omitted).

Id. at 413.

In this case the court instructed the jury that:

Where . . . [a] . . . conflict cannot be reconciled, you are the final judges and must determine from the evidence what the facts are. . . . [Y]ou should carefully and conscientiously consider and compare all of the testimony, and all of the facts and circumstances, which have a bearing on any issue, and determine therefrom what the facts are. You are not bound to believe all that the witnesses have testified to or any witness or class of witnesses unless such testimony is reasonable and convincing in view of all of the facts and circumstances in evidence. . . . [I]f you believe a witness has wilfully testified falsely as to any material fact in this case, you may disregard the whole of the testimony of such witness, or you may give it such weight as you think it is entitled to.

(Instruction #8, CT 57).

The two versions the jury had before it regarding the missing property were: (1) Mr. Bowden's testimony as to what property was in the car when he and his wife entered the Langdon residence (T. 16-32); and (2) appellant's assertion that he saw no property in the car when he took it (T. 74). The fact that the vehicle sat for about 10 minutes before appellant drove it away and the fact that appellant claimed he left the vehicle unattended for a similar period were also known to the jury (T. 35, 74).

The jury could give whatever weight it wanted to the inference someone other than appellant took the property inside the car, or that the property never existed in the first place. Based on the apparent inconsistencies in appellant's testimony when factual assertions made by him are compared with the assertions of other witnesses, it is reasonable that the jury chose not to give as much weight to appellant's version of these facts as it gave to the versions given by other witnesses (See note 1, p. 6, supra). It was the jury's prerogative to reach its conclusions based upon the evidence adduced at trial, and to decide which of the witnesses to believe or disbelieve.

Appellant's second and third points can be disposed of together. Appellant has not shown why the alternative hypothesis instruction was required. There has been no



authority cited which supports the contention that the omission of the alternative hypothesis was improper.

The standard in Utah as to the giving of such an instruction was stated in State v. Fort, 572 P.2d 1387 (Utah 1977); and State v. Garcia, 355 P.2d 57 (Utah 1960):

[W]here the only proof of material fact or one which is a necessary element of defendant's guilt consists of circumstantial evidence, such circumstances must reasonably preclude every reasonable hypothesis of defendant's innocence . . .

This rule is applicable only where the proof of a material issue is based solely on circumstantial evidence . . .

355 P.2d at 59, 60 (emphasis added). The principle was cited and reaffirmed in State v. Schad, 470 P.2d 246, 247 (Utah 1970); State v. Romero, 554 P.2d 216 (Utah 1976); State v. Dumas, 554 P.2d 1313 (Utah 1976); and State v. Bender, 581 P.2d 1019 (Utah 1978).

As was pointed out above, the proof in this case was not solely circumstantial as it related to the theft of Mr. Bowden's property.

In State v. Hopkins, 359 P.2d 485 (Utah 1961), a similar situation to the one presented before this Court existed in that the defendant's version was totally different from that of the prosecution's, especially as to the issue

of intent. There, the Court refused to give a reasonable hypothesis instruction, saying that the jury must decide which version of the evidence to believe:

The difficulty with defendant's position is that the rule he relies on is not applicable where, as here, there is dispute in the evidence and one version thereof does not support his thesis. He errs in assuming that the jury was obliged to believe his story as to what happened . . .

Id. at 487.

This Court recently affirmed the rule that an alternative hypothesis instruction is superfluous. State v. Eagle, 611 P.2d 1211 (Utah 1981). This rule has been gaining momentum in other jurisdictions as well as in the federal courts. Basically, the analysis is as follows:

"[S]ubstantial evidence" is necessary to warrant submission of a case to the jury. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt, of course, is a jury question. . . . The substantial evidence required to warrant a conviction may be either circumstantial or direct. . . . The probative value of evidence is not reduced simply because it is circumstantial. . . . The probative value of direct and circumstantial evidence is essentially similar, and there is no distinction as to weight assigned to each. A conviction may be sustained on circumstantial evidence alone. . . . The prosecution is no longer required, in a case based wholly upon circumstantial evidence, to negate every conceivable hypothesis of innocence....

State v. Blevins, 623 P.2d 853, 856 (Ariz. App. 1981)

(Citations omitted).

This Court said in State v. Eagle, 611 P.2d 1211 (Utah 1981):

In regard to the propriety of the so-called "reasonable alternative hypothesis" jury instruction, any controversy over its use constitutes nothing more than a tempest in a teapot. The prosecution's burden of proof in any criminal case, whether the evidence be direct or circumstantial, or a combination of both, is that of beyond a reasonable doubt. The use of the reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction is merely one way of expressing that necessary burden of proof and there is no apparent reason to mandate that one, and only one, particular instruction be used by trial judges in conveying to the jury the meaning of that elusive phrase, "proof beyond a reasonable doubt." It may well be that one of our astute jurists may make even a substantial improvement of the reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction, if in fact one has not already done so. In any event, the "reasonable doubt" instruction given in the instant case clearly and appropriately informed the jury of the legal standard to be applied.

Id. at 1213 (See also: State v. Stacks, 627 P.2d 88, 92 (Utah 1981); State v. Lamb, 606 P.2d 229 (Utah 1980); State v. King, 604 P.2d 923 (Utah 1979); State v. Peoples, 605 P.2d 135, 141 (Kans. 1980); State v. Seelen, 485 P.2d 826, 828-9 (Ariz. 1971).

The test, then, is whether the "reasonable doubt" instruction given in a case "clearly and appropriately inform[s] the jury of the legal standard to be applied." Eagle, supra, at 1213.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the evidence was all circumstantial, an instruction on reasonable alternative hypothesis need not be given. In Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, reh. denied 348 U.S. 932 (1954),<sup>3</sup> the petitioners assailed the refusal of the trial judge to instruct that where the Government's evidence is circumstantial it must be such as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than guilt. The Supreme Court admitted that there was some case law supporting that type of instruction, but then stated:

. . . the better rule is that where the jury is properly instructed on the standards for reasonable doubt, such an additional instruction on circumstantial evidence is confusing and incorrect [citations omitted].

Circumstantial evidence in this respect is intrinsically no different from testimonial evidence. Admittedly, circumstantial evidence may in some cases point to a wholly incorrect result. Yet this is equally true of testimonial evidence. In both instances, a jury is asked to weight the chances that the evidence correctly points to guilt

---

<sup>3</sup>See also: United States v. Battista, 646 F.2d 237, 246 (6th Cir. 1981); United States v. Patterson, 644 F.2d 890, 894 (1st Cir. 1981); United States v. Dvoskin, 644 F.2d 418, 420 (5th Cir. 1981).

against the possibility of inaccuracy or ambiguous inference. In both, the jury must use its experience with people and events in weighing the probabilities. If the jury is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, we can require no more.

Supra, at 139-140.

The law is primarily concerned that an accused shall be presumed innocent until proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Utah Code Annotated, § 76-1-501 (1953), as amended. There is no need to risk confusing the jury with instructions to the effect that if the evidence is circumstantial it must exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than guilt. If a jury, upon weighing all evidence whether circumstantial or direct, is convinced of a defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt the law is satisfied.

An instruction on reasonable doubt provides an understandable criterion for decision making; an instruction on reasonable alternative hypothesis is unnecessary and may confuse the jury. In the instant case, the jury was properly instructed on reasonable doubt. See Instruction #7 (CT 56). The trial judge evidently concluded a reasonable alternative hypothesis instruction was superfluous. Such a determination was within his discretion and was properly exercised.

The jury in this case, consistent with their careful instruction on reasonable doubt, logically excluded all reasonable alternative hypothesis by their guilty verdict.

Appellant has not only failed to show that his requested instruction is required but has also failed to show that if it would have been given in this case, it would have made some difference.

Even if the trial court had erred in refusing to give the requested instruction, that error would have been harmless. Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 30; Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-30 (1980). The instructions, when read as a whole, require the jury to consider the testimony of appellant in reaching its verdict (See Instruction 23, CT 74).

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